1980

Legrande L. Belnap v. Walker Bank & Trust Company In Its Corporate Capacity : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, denying the plaintiff judgment upon his complaint against the defendant seeking to quiet title to properties situated in Salt Lake County; and from the same Order granting the defendant declaratory relief, pursuant with the prayer of defendant's counterclaim, declaring that the defendant had a good and valid mortgage against the property which is the subject of this action.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable Bryant H. Croft, entered his order denying the relief sought by the plaintiff in his case in chief, which action was brought for the purpose of quieting title to the subject property in the plaintiff and declaring that the defendant had no interest in the same. At the

same time, the Honorable Judge Croft granted defendant's motion for Summary Judgment on its counterclaim for declaratory relief, which judgment effectively disposed of the issues raised in plaintiff's complaint.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff contends that the District Court erred in denying him the relief sought and in granting the defendant declaratory relief. The plaintiff seeks an Order of this Court reversing the judgment of the District Court, since the same is based upon a complaint for declaratory relief which does not comply with statute; and for a further order of this Court remanding this case to the District Court with the direction that the District Court enter judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant for the reason that defendants claim to a lien interest in real property is based upon a written instrument which is void; or failing the aforementioned relief, for an order directing that the judgment be reversed and the case sent back for trial of all issues raised by plaintiff's complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The plaintiff's father and mother deeded real property to the plaintiff by Warranty Deed dated August, 1951, (Supplemental Record pp. 1).
2. Said real property was situated in Salt Lake County and located at 1466 Indian Hills Drive, (Supplemental record pp. 1).

3. Plaintiff and plaintiff's wife erected a home on said property and had resided there continuously until the death of plaintiff's wife in 1972; and plaintiff has continued to reside in said property since her death (Deposition of LeGrande L. Belnap, Record pp.585, (deposition page 20) .

4. The deed conveying said property to the plaintiff was delivered to the defendant and made part of an application by the plaintiff and plaintiff's wife for a mortgage on the subject property. (Affidavit of LeGrande L. Belnap, Record pp.164-165) .

5. Without the knowledge and consent of the plaintiff, the defendant took delivery of a second deed of the same property purportedly conveying said property exclusively to plaintiff's wife. Said deed dated November 10, 1952 was forged as to the signature of plaintiff's mother and the signature of plaintiff's father is still factually in dispute. (Affidavit of LeGrande L. Belnap, Record pp.164-165; Deposition of Ben Garcia, Record p. 586; deposition page 24, lines 1-10 page 25, lines 1-9, page 26 lines 8-9; Affidavit of Wilford W. Kimball, record pp.80-81; Affidavit of Henry Belnap, Record pp.14-15; Record page 768, deposition pp. 6, 9-10; Affidavit of Leslie W. King, transcript pp. 182-183) .

6. The circumstances in the execution and delivery of the deed dated November 10, 1952 is in dispute. (Deposition of Henry Belnap, record page 768 deposition pp. 6, 9-10;

Affidavit of Henry Belnap, Record pp. 14-15).

7. The defendant required the plaintiff to execute a mortgage with warranties of title that he had title to the subject property even though the defendant recorded the forged deed concurrent with the recordation of said mortgage; and even though the defendant retained the original conveyance of August, 1951, conveying said property to the plaintiff and his wife. (Affidavit of Wilford W. Kimball, Record pp. 80-81).

8. Both deeds were in the possession and control of the defendant at all times prior to the initiation of this action, at which time they were deposited with the Clerk of the Court. (Deposition of Stephen L. Goalen, Record pp. 769 deposition page 9 lines 8-25, page 10 lines 1-10).

9. In 1964, without the knowledge of the plaintiff, the defendant recorded a trust deed on said property executed by plaintiff's wife. (Affidavit of Wilford W. Kimball Record pp. 80-81).

10. Plaintiff's wife died in 1972 and a probate action was brought to the Third District Court. (Record pp. 653-655).

11. The defendant was appointed the special administrator and the administrator of the estate of plaintiff wife, and the defendant has received a final discharge from its duties as the administrator of the estate of plaintiff's wife. (Record pp. 656-658; Record pp. 712; Record pp 714-715).

12. Subsequent to the death of the plaintiff's wife, the plaintiff brought this action against the defendant, seeking to quiet title to the property, which is the subject of plaintiff's complaint. (Record pp. 2-3).

13. The defendant filed its answer and counterclaim seeking declaratory relief pursuant with the statutes of the State of Utah. (Record pp. 6-9).

14. In its answer and counterclaim, the defendant denied that the plaintiff had any interest in the subject property; but joined no additional parties claiming any interest, and made no allegations of a chain of title. (Record pp. 6-9).

15. In its final order and judgment, the court ordered that the plaintiff had no record interest in the subject property on which to base a judgment quieting title in the name of the plaintiff as against all other parties to the action; and that the defendant was entitled to declaratory relief determining that the defendant's trust deed was a good and valid lien against the subject property. (Record pp. 550 and 551, and 535).

ARGUMENT

POINT I: DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON A COUNTERCLAIM FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF WHERE THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO SET FORTH IN THE ALLEGATIONS OF ITS COUNTERCLAIM ANY FACTS SUPPORTING ITS CHAIN OF TITLE, AND FURTHER, WHERE THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO JOIN ANY NECESSARY PARTY IN AN ACTION FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF.

On April 16, 1973, the defendant filed its Answer and Counterclaim in this case. In its answer and counterclaim, the defendant merely alleged that it was the owner and holder of a trust deed and note on certain property; and without anything further, prayed for declaratory judgment. (Record pp. 8) This, in spite of the fact that the defendant denied that the plaintiff had any interest in the subject property, and further that the defendant joined no party whom it claimed had an interest.

The judgment of the lower court granted declaratory relief despite these facts. Indeed, the judgment stands for the proposition that the defendant is entitled to a "declaration" that it holds a good and valid lien upon real property even though no person, firm, or corporation, having any claim of interest in the property was ever made a party to the action.

The applicable statute on Declaratory relief provides as follows:

"When declaratory relief is sought all persons shall (emphasis supplied) be made parties who have or claim any interest which would be affected by the declaration..." Utah Code Annotated 78-33-11.

Appellant acknowledges that the declaratory relief statute is to be liberally construed. It is respectfully submitted, however, that to grant declaratory relief respecting title to real property without joining any party who may claim an interest, is not only an abuse of judicial

discretion with respect to liberal construction, it is also a denial of fundamental rights of due process. Declaratory relief is designed to promote judicial economy but to grant such relief without an opponent is a total waste.

Appellant claimed to be the sole owner of the subject property. The Court found that appellant had no interest. Respondant, on the other hand, denied appellant's title yet agreed to allow the court to dismiss out all persons who may have claimed any interest (Record pp. 389, 394-395 para. 2). Later, as will be argued hereafter, respondent in its capacity as administrator of the estate of appellant's deceased wife, disclaimed any interest in the subject property.

The second problem with the judgment of the District Court granting declaratory relief in favor of the respondents and against the appellant is that the pleadings of the respondents are fatally defective. To obtain declaratory relief on a Trust Deed declaring that said Trust Deed is a good and valid lien on real property, requires that the parties seeking such declaratory relief allege a chain of title. The respondent, in its answer and counterclaim, and in its amended answer and counterclaim which it subsequently withdrew, never alleged any chain of title whatsoever. Consequently, there is no allegation in pleadings of the respondent whereby the Court could determine that the Trust Deed, which respondent sought to have declared valid

had any root of title whatsoever. In fact, if we are to rely upon the allegations of respondent's answer to plaintiff's complaint, the respondent affirmatively alleges that it claims no title in the subject property. In this respect, appellant quotes from the answer of the respondent as follows:

"In further answer to plaintiff's complaint, this defendant alleges that it has and claims no right, title, interest or estate in the property described in plaintiff's complaint save and except as the owner and holder of a certain trust deed dated May 3, 1963,..." (Record, pp. 7 Paragraph (4)).

The law of the State of Utah has been established in a long line of cases commencing in 1924 and continuing through the present date. In the case of Campbell v. Union Savings and Investment Co., 63 Utah 366, 226 Pacific 190 (1924), the court dealt with a factual situation substantially similar to the case at hand. In that case, the defendant, Union Savings and Investment Company had filed an answer and counterclaim, and in their answer had specifically denied plaintiff's title to the subject property and set up by way of counterclaim, a claim that it had a mortgage interest in the subject property. Defendant's pleadings, however, failed to set forth any claim of ownership or interest in the mortgaged premises, and the court stated as follows:

"In the absence of any claim of ownership or interest by the defendant in the mortgaged premises, we cannot conceive how the mortgage constituted any lien upon the property in question."

Campbell, 226 Pacific 190 at page 193

In the Campbell case, it should be noted, that the defendant, Union Savings and Investment Company had set forth in the allegations of its counterclaim that it had obtained title from a party through whom the plaintiff did not claim title. In the instant case, by way of contrast, Walker Bank and Trust Company, the respondent, has failed even in that respect to allege that it even had a mortgagor or trustor from whom it could obtain a valid lien against the property. (Record pp. 8 Paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 of counterclaim).

The Campbell case was subsequently cited in Pender v. Bird, et al., 224 Pacific 2d 1057 (Utah 1950) and the principals set forth in the Campbell case reaffirmed. The Pender case, however, was distinguished from the Campbell case in that the claim of title in the Pender case was based upon a chain of title which was defective. In the case at hand, as will be shown hereafter, it is clear that the deed upon which the respondent would have the Court base its title is a forgery, and therefore, void. Both the Campbell case and the Pender case have been subsequently affirmed and followed by the case of Pleasant Grove City vs. Crease, et al., Utah, 266 Pacific 2d 1019 (1954). In the Pleasant Grove case, the court stated

as follows:

"In Pender v. Bird, 224 Pacific 2d 1057 a similar situation was presented. The plaintiff claimed title under a deed which we held conveyed nothing. The defendant, Bird, claimed title under a tax title which this court assumed to be defective. We held that the defendant Bird being in possession under color of title was entitled to a decree quieting title against the plaintiff who had no vestage of title. Reliance was placed upon Campbell v. Union Savings & Investment Co., 63 Utah 366 226 Pacific 190, at 193, where this court held that the title of plaintiff who was in possession however defective it may be, 'is nevertheless ample to withstand the assaults of the defendant so long as the defendant shows no right, title, or interest whatever in the property'." Pleasant Grove City vs. Crease, 266 Pacific 2d 1019, at Page 1020.

POINT II: IS THE RESPONDENT, WALKER BANK & TRUST COMPANY BARRED BY DOCTRINES OF RES JUDICATA, ESTOPPLE BY JUDGMENT OR THE "ONE ACTION RULE" FROM ASSERTING AN INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY WHICH THEY HAVE PREVIOUSLY DISCLAIMED ANY INTEREST IN, AND WHERE THE COUNTERCLAIM OF WALKER BANK & TRUST COMPANY IN ITS CAPACITY AS THE SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF UTAHNA P. BELNAP IN THIS ACTION HAS BEEN DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE

In considering the questions of res judicata, estoppel by judgment, and the "One Action Rule", appellant feels that it would be helpful to set forth a recitation of the facts upon which it claims the respondent is barred from obtaining a judgment for declaratory relief in this action.

1. Walker Bank & Trust Company was appointed the special administrator of the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap on March 19, 1973, (Record pp.565-657).

2. Walker Bank & Trust Company was appointed the administrator of the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap on August 24, 1976. (Record, pp. 712).

3. As the special administrator:

A. Walker Bank & Trust Company petitioned the court for authority to pay themselves all past due payments due on the Trust Deed note which is the subject of the counterclaim of the respondent, Walker Bank & Trust Company in its action for declaratory relief. (Record pp. 676-678).

B. In their petition, Walker Bank & Trust Company as the special administrator set forth the fact that LeGrande L. Belnap, appellant in this case, disputed the claim of the estate that the estate had an interest in the property which was given as security for the subject trust deed and note.

C. On May 15, 1975, the court approved payments from the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap on the note of Walker Bank & Trust Company and directed that all current payments be continued to be made by the estate to Walker Bank & Trust Company until further order of the court. (Record pp. 674-75, 707).

D. No order was ever entered by the Third District Court in either of the probate actions, which are part of this appeal terminating the authorization to pay the payments on the note from the assets of the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap.

E. On January 31, 1976, Walker Bank & Trust Company as the special administrator filed its "SECOND AND FINAL ACCOUNT OF WALKER BANK & TRUST COMPANY AS SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF UTAHNA PETTY BELNAP, DECEASED, OCTOBER 1, 1974 THROUGH JANUARY 31, 1976. (Record pp. 693).

F. On January 31, 1976, Walker Bank & Trust Company deleted the trust property from the estate with the statement "Court determined above property to be that of LeGrande L. Belnap and not that of decedent. Per Court order dtd 01/19/76." (Record pp. 700).

G. Thereafter, Walker Bank & Trust as the administrator of the estate of Utahna P. Belnap continued to act as such until it was appointed as the administrator in August, 1976. (Record pp. 712).

H. Walker Bank & Trust Company as the special administrator filed a counterclaim in this case on April 16, 1973. (Record pp. 10-12). Said counterclaim alleged that the estate of Utahna P. Belnap owned the fee simple interest in the property which was given as security for the trust deed note which is the subject of respondent's petition for declaratory relief, and further alleged in said counterclaim that LeGrande L. Belnap had no interest in the property and sought the aid of the court quieting title in the estate as against the interest of LeGrande Belnap. Said counterclaim of the special administrator in this action, was dismissed with prejudice

(Order, Judgment and Decree dated 1-19-76, Record pp. 390-91).

The respondent, Walker Bank & Trust Company claims a lien against the subject property by virtue of a Trust Deed and a Trust Deed Note signed by Utahna Petty Belnap. The estate of Utahna Belnap, with Walker Bank & Trust as the special administrator disclaimed any interest in the property, and consented that its counterclaim in this action be dismissed with prejudice (Record pp. 390-391). The respondent was present at the hearing when the estate and others were dismissed, and when the counterclaim of the estate was dismissed with prejudice. The respondent as a corporation never filed a claim against the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap even though notice to creditors was duly given pursuant with statute. (Record pp. 716-718).

This court is no doubt aware of the broad use (or misuse) of the Doctrines of Estoppel. One form of estoppel which seems to be applicable in the case at hand is commonly referred to as judicial estoppel. It is a general rule that a party is bound by his judicial declarations and may not contradict them in a subsequent action or proceeding. Tracy Loan and Trust Company vs. Openshaw Investment Company, 102 Utah 509, 132 Pacific 2d 388. In light of the Tracy case (op. cit.) it would seem that Walker Bank & Trust Company

as the administrator of the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap has in fact made judicial declarations by virtue of the filing of its second and final account in that estate, disclaiming any interest in the subject property, and further by reason of the fact that it has voluntarily consented to the dismissal of any claim which it may have in the estate, which dismissal was granted by this court in this case with prejudice.

Generally speaking, it has been said that estoppel is a bar which would preclude a person or entity from denying anything to the contrary of that which has been established as a fact by the acts of a judicial body, or which has been established by his own acts or conduct or lack thereof. Kessinger v. Anderson, 31 Washington 2d, 157, 196 Pacific 2d 289.

The respondent would have this court believe that while it is acting in its corporate capacity (it has no other capacity) that it cannot be bound for acts which it participated in in a judicial forum in some other capacity. Appellant respectfully submits that such a distinction is clearly without form. It is axiomatic that a corporation is given its form by virtue of the law. Since Walker Bank & Trust Company does not exist except in a corporate form, obviously it cannot function except in its corporate

form. Whether it is acting on its own account, or whether it is acting on the account of others, it is the same capacity and the same "corpus". Since Walker Bank & Trust Company can have only one personality, it is therefore submitted to this court under the policy of Tracy Loan & Trust Company (op. cit.) that the respondent is bound by its own acts in another capacity in the same District Court respecting the subject property.

It is often said, however, that in order to enforce the principals of estoppel against one party in favor of another party, that it must be shown that the party seeking to enforce the principal of estoppel must show that he has been harmed. Since it is clear that the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap has now been finally settled under the hand of Walker Bank & Trust Company as the administrator, and since it is further clear that the statutory time for the plaintiff to file any claim against the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap which he may have by virtue of the claimed lien of Walker Bank & Trust Company in this action has run, that the plaintiff has clearly been prejudiced and has no other claim or claimant against which he could assert a claim in damages as a result of the judgment of the District Court in this case. Since Walker Bank & Trust Company was party to the

judicial action declaring that the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap had no interest in the subject property, and since the appellant in this matter is clearly prejudiced in that he is not now able to bring any claim for damages against the estate of Utahna Petty Belnap as a result of the claimed lien of the respondent, the Doctrines of Estopple should clearly apply against the defendant and in favor of the plaintiff in this case. In the case of Weyant vs. Utah Savings & Trust Co., 54 Utah, 181, 182 Pacific 189, 9 ALR, 1119, the Supreme Court held that where the statutory notice to creditors had been given pursuant with the statutes applicable to probate proceedings, all persons who were interested in the estate are bound by all orders and decrees duly entered in that particular case. Such is the case here, and the doctrines of the Weyant case would not only apply to the appellant in this case, but should also be made to apply to the respondent.

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