1980

Legrande L. Belnap v. Walker Bank & Trust Company In Its Corporate Capacity : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

¹¹In his Reply to Counterclaim, Second Defense, paragraph 2, Appellant alleges: "Denies the allegations of Paragraph 2 and 3 of defendants' counterclaim and further alleges that said trust deed is void as against the claims of plaintiff because of the acts which are fully set forth and the Complaint filed by the plaintiff against the defendant on file with this Court under Civil No. 209266."

2. The issues in the case pending on appeal relate to the validity of a mortgage granted by plaintiff's former wife to the defendant, Walker Bank & Trust Company, in its corporate capacity.

(Supplemental Record at 420-421)

The Complaints, Counterclaim, Reply to Counterclaim and other pleadings in these cases demonstrate the identity of issues. In the forgery and fraud case, Appellant put into issue the validity of both the Bank's Trust Deed and the second deed conveying the home of Utahna P. Belnap alone. These matters are now res judicata against him.

Likewise, Appellant's only affirmative defense to the Bank's counterclaim herein is conclusively established against him by res judicata. This follows not only under the generally broad application of res judicata with regard to Rule 41(b), but also because the specific issues in dispute here were also addressed in Case Number 209266. Each issue presently at bar was, in fact, raised and adjudicated by the forgery and fraud case dismissal.

The dismissal with prejudice in Case Number 209266 operates as an absolute bar to any assertion by Appellant in this case that the Bank's Trust Deed is not valid or that the second deed was not valid because of alleged forgery. To the extent that Appellant's case herein seeks to establish his title in derogation of the Bank's Trust Deed, he is barred by

the dismissal with prejudice of the earlier case.

The proper application of res judicata fully resolves this appeal against Appellant and renders consideration of the following arguments unnecessary.

II. APPELLANT'S PLEADINGS PRECLUDE HIS ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL.

Appellant's arguments in brief, in light of his pleadings, compel affirmation of the lower court's summary judgment. In his brief, Appellant now raises various defenses to the Bank's Trust Deed based on:

- 1) Bank's failure to comply with declaratory relief statute (Point I);
- 2) Actions of the personal representative, estoppel and the "one action" rule (Point II); and
- 3) he forgery of the second deed and the bank's notice of Appellant's interest under the first deed (Point III).

The first two arguments are in the nature of affirmative defenses, alleging matters which are not implicit in Appellant's general denials to the Bank's counterclaim. But, Appellant neither pleaded such matters, nor sought to amend or supplement his pleadings to allege such matters. Because these defenses were not raised in his pleadings, Appellant may not

now argue them.¹²

On the other hand, the third argument addresses and sets forth his only pleaded affirmative defense - the matters covered in the forgery and fraud case. Thus the familiar litany on page 24 of his brief: The Bank had notice of Appellant's interest when Appellant delivered the first deed to the Bank. The Bank should have known the second deed was a forgery and failed to protect itself. (Compare Complaint 209266, Supplemental Record at 2-8.)

Even if this Court does not reaffirm its broad application of res judicata as set forth in Point I supra, at the very least, the affirmative defense which is based on the pleadings of the forgery and fraud case must be determined against Appellant.

Thus, because of his failure to plead the belated defenses, and because of the unavailability of the only defense pleaded, Appellant may not properly argue any of his proposed defenses on the appeal. Walker Bank is properly entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

¹²See Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 12(h); see Tygesen v. Magna Water Company, 13 U.2d 397, 375 P.2d 456 (1962).

III. EVEN IF ALL APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS WERE ADMITTED,
AT THE VERY LEAST, WALKER BANK HOLDS A VALID LIEN
ON AN UNDIVIDED ONE-HALF OF THE PROPERTY.

Even if Appellant can somehow prevail in his claim under the defective deed of August 23, 1951, he cannot have the property free and clear. This question is settled by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Tracy Collins Trust Co. v. Goeltz, 5 U.2d 350, 301 P.2d 1086 (1956). In that case a husband and wife owned property in joint tenancy and jointly executed a mortgage on the property. Thereafter, the husband sought a second mortgage from another lending institution, Tracy Collins Trust Company. As a condition to the loan, the prospective lender required that the original mortgage be paid and that the wife join in the new mortgage to it. The husband, without the knowledge of the lender, signed his wife's name. In the lender's action to foreclose the mortgage after default, the wife resisted because the mortgage had been executed by the husband alone.

In Tracy Collins Trust Co. v. Goeltz, the Utah Supreme Court held that the husband's signature was ineffective to mortgage the wife's interest. The Court held, however, that the mortgage by the husband alone severed the joint tenancy and created a tenancy in common. The Court further held that the wife was liable for, and the entire tenancy in common was

subject to a portion of the second mortgage. The court found such liability existed to the extent by which the proceeds of the second mortgage relieved her and her one-half of the property of the prior obligation. Finally the Court held that the husband's undivided one-half interest of the tenancy in common was subject to the whole amount of the unpaid balance of the mortgage.

If somehow Appellant prevails on his claim under the August 23, 1951 deed, Tracy Collins controls this case. At the time of the trust deed transaction on May 3, 1963, Utahna Belnap had an undivided interest in joint tenancy in the property in question. Her trust deed transaction severed the joint tenancy and created a tenancy in common with Appellant, with each tenant having an undivided one-half interest. Her transaction also caused Appellant to be relieved of an obligation of \$4,708.68 as a joint obligor on the mortgage of the property. Consequently, if any property passes to Appellant by virtue of the August 23, 1951 deed, he can only take an undivided one-half interest as a tenant in common and that he takes subject to the lien of Walker Bank & Trust Company in the sum of \$4,708.68.¹³ Furthermore, the remaining undivided one-half interest in common is subject to the

¹³plus statutory interest from May 3, 1963. Utah Code Annotated, §15-1-1.

trust deed and the whole unpaid amount of the trust deed note.

Nonetheless, Appellant says that Walker Bank's trust deed is void because a forged deed was used as security for a loan to Utahna P. Belnap. This is not the case. The Bank took Utahna P. Belnap's interest in the property as security for a loan to Utahna P. Belnap. If Walker Bank was misled or mistaken as to the extent of her estate, it is still entitled to take that which she held at the time. Utah Code Annotated, Section 57-1-4. Moreover, the contrary authority which counsel for Appellant cites deals with situations where the deeds are entire foregeries. Such cases are distinguishable from the circumstance here. In this case one grantor's signature is genuine, and that grantor survived the other signator. Moreover, the party obligating the property had a claim to it independently of the so called forgery.

IV. WALKER BANK & TRUST COMPANY IS A PURCHASER IN GOOD FAITH AND FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION.

Section 57-3-3 of the Utah Code Annotated states:

Every conveyance of real estate hereafter made, which shall not be recorded as provided in this title, shall be void as against any subsequent purchaser in good faith and for a valuable consideration of the same real estate, or any portion thereof, where his own conveyance shall be first duly recorded.

In the case of Federal Land Bank of Berkeley v. Pace, 87 Utah 156, 48 P.2d 480 (1935) this Court held that the term conveyance in the predecessor statute to the above quoted statute

included mortgage liens. There would seem little doubt that it also includes trust deeds.

In the case now before the Court, Walker Bank took the Trust Deed of Utahna P. Belnap as security for a trust deed note and loaned the sum of \$30,000.00 to Utahna P. Belnap on May 3, 1963. At this time, Utahna P. Belnap had been the record owner of the property for approximately nine years and the Bank had no knowledge of any defect in the title. The Bank's trust deed was recorded on May 8, 1963.

The deed under which Appellant claims was never recorded. In his forgery suit, Appellant claimed that Walker Bank did have notice because Appellant allegedly entrusted the August 23, 1951, deed to it for recording. Because of the dismissal with prejudice the allegation has been conclusively determined against him, even were it not belied by the record of Appellant's subsequent involvement in the Plat of the Indian Hills B-1 subdivision. And, in any event, at the time the Bank had the second deed recorded and lent money pursuant to a mortgage transaction the first deed was unrecordable to demonstrate any interest in Appellant. It was unrecordable both because of the defective acknowledgement and also because it predated the plat which was signed by the grantors. That plat indicated to the world that the grantors, and not Appellant, still claimed ownership to the property. In fact, even if the deed had been recorded, standing alone, it would

not have been notice of Appellant's alleged interest. See Norton v. Fuller, 68 Utah 524, 251 P. 29 (1926). Appellant has not met his burden of raising genuine issues respecting the Bank's notice of the 1951 deed, nor with the dismissal of the forgery case can he. The Bank is a subsequent purchaser in good faith and for a valuable consideration.

V. APPELLANT MAY NOT USE THE ACTIONS OF WALKER BANK IN ITS CAPACITY AS SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR OR ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF UTAHNA P. BELNAP AS ADMISSIONS BY RESPONDENT IN ITS CORPORATE CAPACITY IN THIS CASE.

In the Appellant's various actions against it, the Bank has participated in two capacities. The Bank has appeared both in its fiduciary capacity as proponent and named executor under a Will, and its corporate capacity as a creditor of Utahna Belnap and a lien holder on potential estate assets.

In the initial stages of the probate proceedings, the Bank participated as the named executor under the 1949 will seeking formal appointment as such. Later, as Special Administrator and ultimately as Administrator of the estate, the Bank acted in a fiduciary capacity as representative of the estate. In this case, the Bank was sued in both capacities.

Different law firms represented the Bank's independent interests. Initially, the firm of Romney, Nelson and Cassity appeared for the Bank in its capacity as representative of the

estate. (Later, the law firm of Strong & Hanni appeared for the Bank in its capacity as representative of the estate.) The Bank's present counsel represented and continues to represent the Bank in its corporate capacity. The distinction and independence of the two separate Bank persona is one of both form and substance. The distinction is apparent not only under the law, but in the handling of these cases as well.

Under the law, the acts of the Bank in the faithful performance of its duties as representative of the estate are chargeable to the estate. A claim against the Bank who has faithfully performed its duty¹⁴ is a claim against the estate which must indemnify it. On the other hand, a claim against the Bank in its corporate capacity is a claim against the Bank's own assets.

The statutes and courts of Utah recognize this distinction. For example, the relevant Utah statutes provide that all assets held in any fiduciary capacity must be kept separate from the general assets from the Bank.¹⁵ Former Utah Code Annotated Section 75-9-15 respecting judgments against the

¹⁴Plaintiff stipulated to the dismissal of all of his claims against the Bank as Special Administrator and, therefore, must concede its faithful performance of its fiduciary duties.

¹⁵Utah Code Annotated §7-5-12.

personal representative has been interpreted by this Court to mean that any judgment so given must be a judgment against the estate assets only and that entry of said judgment against the personal representative personally is improper. Clayton v. Dinwoodey, 33 U 251, 93 P. 723, 782 (1908).

Because of the separate and distinct nature of the Bank's two persona, the acts of the Bank as the representative of the estate are not admissions against the Bank in its corporate capacity. Such a conclusion is compelled not only by the general rule which requires the bank as fiduciary to represent the estate's interests independently of the bank's interests which might arise from its corporate transactions, but also by the record of these cases.

In the 1976 Stipulation between Appellant and the heirs of the estate, the distinction was recognized. All claims against the Bank as representative of the estate were dismissed with prejudice. The claims against the Bank in its corporate capacity were reserved for further proceedings. The claim of the Bank in its corporate capacity was recognized and reserved. And, according to the Stipulation, Appellant agreed to indemnify and to hold the heirs, the estate and Walker Bank in its capacity as estate representative harmless from any such claims.

In the Second Point of his brief Appellant claims great prejudice, in that he cannot now reach the estate for payment of the Trust Deed indebtedness. Additionally Appellant seeks to impose acts which the Bank undertook as estate representative as admissions against the Bank in its corporate capacity. Appellant ignores the law, the facts and the record. Both Appellant's liability here and the Bank's acts which are complained of are in accordance with the Stipulation Appellant executed. That Stipulation provides in relevant part:

(2) LeGrande L. Belnap shall receive and be entitled to the home located at 1466 Indian Hill Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah, and shall take said home subject to the existing mortgage thereon, which said mortgage LeGrande L. Belnap hereby assumes and agrees to discharge and does hereby indemnify and agree to save the estate of Utahna P. Belnap and defendants harmless from any loss, damage, claims, or liability on account thereof. The action described in Paragraph V B shall be dismissed as against Walker Bank & Trust Company as special administrator of the estate of Utahna P. Belnap, deceased, and as against her children with prejudice, provided that the claims against said bank in its corporate capacity shall be reserved.

(4) All property, real, personal and mixed, other than the home referred to in paragraph V B above and the Montebello property referred to in Paragraph V C above including, but without limitation, all other property shown on the inventory and appraisal filed by the Special Administrator in Case No. 59387 pending in the above-entitled court, and all other properties of every kind or nature owned by Utahna P. Belnap at the time of her death, known or unknown, or hereafter discovered or that may be hereafter acquired, shall belong to the estate of Utahna P.

Belnap, deceased, and as to which LeGrande L. Belnap and Belnap Freight Lines hereby disclaim and waive any interest therein. All of said property, real, personal and mixed, belonging to the estate of Utahna P. Belnap shall be distributed to the defendants, Barbara Sine, LeGrande P. Belnap, Arlene Waldron and Jaynie Belnap, in equal shares free and clear of any interest or claim of LeGrande L. Belnap or Belnap Freight Lines.

(5) All taxes of every kind or nature that are due or that may hereafter become due on said Home. . .B. . .all state inheritance taxes or federal estate taxes that may be claimed or that may become payable by reason of any claim that said Home. . .were assets of Utahna P. Belnap shall be paid by LeGrande L. Belnap and Belnap Freight Lines, and LeGrande L. Belnap and Belnap Freight Lines do indemnify and agree to save the estate of Utahna P. Belnap and defendants harmless from any and all loss, damages, claims or liability on account thereof.

(Record at 393)(Emphasis added)

In accepting the judicial order made pursuant to the compromise or Stipulation of the heirs regarding the treatment of the home, the Bank as estate fiduciary was compelled to act in the best interests of the estate and of the rightful heirs of the estate. But such actions taken in "the best interests of the estate" do not bind third parties whose claims may be contrary to such a settlement or determination. This is especially true where such claims were specifically recognized and the Appellant expressly indemnified the representative and held it harmless from any liability on account thereof. The Bank's acts as representative of the estate are not admissions

against Respondent herein who appears as creditor. Appellant may not now claim that the acts taken in reliance on and in pursuance of such a Stipulation are acts which bind the Bank in its corporate capacity.

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